RECEIVED

Sep 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

South Carolina Workers' Compensation Claim No. 1819776
(Appellate Case No. 2021-000695)

South Carolina Uninsured Employers Fund,Appellant

v.

Jeff Quinn, Employee, Yeamans Hall Club, Employer, Accident Fund Insurance Co.
of America, Carrier, Travelers Property Casualty Company of America, Carrier,
and Michael Hannaway d/b/a Hannaway Painting, EmployerRespondents

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT SOUTH CAROLINA UNINSURED EMPLOYERS
FUND**

ROBERT M. COOK II
The Robert Cook Law Firm, LLC
P.O. Box 3575

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The South Carolina Uninsured Employers' Fund (UEF) seeks appellate review by this Court of the Decision and Order of the Full Commission dated 6/1/21. The Notice of Appeal filed by the UEF on 6/30/21, identifies the following issues on appeal:

1. Did the Full Commission err in failing to rule that Yeamans Hall Club was the statutory employer of the Claimant and that Yeamans Hall Club (and its carrier) was responsible for this claim rather than the UEF?
2. Did the Full Commission err in ruling that the UEF was bound by the Commission's coverage and compliance order dated 7/25/19 and could not contest the issue of coverage as to Travelers as a result?
3. Did the Full Commission err in failing to rule that Travelers improperly cancelled its coverage and that the UEF was responsible for this claim?

There are no issues in this appeal regarding the compensability of the claim or the benefits owed to the Claimant. The UEF is current paying those benefits as ordered by the Full Commission in compliance with the provisions of South Carolina Code Section 42-17-60 while appealing the above issues of statutory employment and coverage to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This claim involves an injury to the Claimant on 8/29/18, when he fell from a ladder while pressure washing a residence that was owned by a member of the Yeamans Hall Club prior to painting the same. The Claimant's fall resulted in various injuries, including an ankle fracture requiring use of a plate and screws to reduce and stabilize the fracture. The Claimant was working for Michael Hannaway d/b/a Hannaway Painting (Hannaway) at the time he was injured. Travelers Property Casualty Co. of America (Travelers) issued a workers' compensation policy to Hannaway with policy coverage

dates of 4/5/18 to 4/5/19 and that policy term included Claimant's date of accident. Travelers disclaimed coverage for this date of accident, alleging that it had cancelled coverage under that policy because of Hannaway's non-compliance with the premium audit of a prior year's policy.

The Claimant filed a Form 50 naming Hannaway as the employer and with the UEF's involvement based upon Travelers' purported cancellation of its policy. The UEF subsequently moved to add Travelers based upon prior precedent invalidating the cancellation of a policy due to non-compliance with an audit for a preceding year. (Motion to Add). At the same, the UEF moved to add Yeamans Hall Club (and its carrier) to this claim as the Statutory Employer of the Claimant. The Commission added those parties as requested by the UEF. (Order Adding Parties).

All parties appeared at the hearing before Commissioner Taylor on 12/10/19, with Hannaway appearing, but unrepresented. That hearing resulted in a Decision and Order finding the claim compensable, awarding benefits, and holding the UEF responsible for this claim based upon the finding that Hannaway was uninsured and subject to the Act. (Single Commissioner Order). The Full Commission affirmed. (Full Commission Order). It is from that Full Commission Decision and Order that the UEF appeals to this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Generally, on an appeal from the Commission this Court may not weigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the Full Commission as to questions of fact, if the same are supported under the "substantial evidence rule.". Barton v. Higgs, 381 S.C. 367, 674 S.E.2d 145 (2009) (reversing finding that UEF was liable under

certificate of insurance statute and holding that statutory employer was liable for claim) and Hernandez-Zuniga v. Tickle, 374 S.C. 235, 647 S.E.2d 691 (Ct. App. 2007). This Court may reverse the decision of the Full Commission if it is based upon an error of law. Id. The interpretation of a statute or regulation is a question of law. Id.

As to jurisdictional issues before the Commission, the standard for review is different and more favorable to an appellant. That standard of review on jurisdictional issues is the preponderance of the evidence standard and this Court may make its own findings of fact without regard to the findings and conclusions of the Full Commission. Hernandez-Zuniga, supra. The issue of statutory employment is jurisdictional. Id.

Accordingly, the appeal of the UEF on the statutory employment issue involving Yeamans Hall Club deals with a jurisdictional issue to which the findings and conclusions of the Full Commission are entitled to no particular deference. The appeal of the UEF as to coverage with Travelers is subject to the more typical substantial evidence rule, primarily requiring the UEF to show that an error of law was made by the Full Commission.

ARGUMENT

1. Yeamans Hall Club was a statutory employer.

The UEF asserts that Yeamans Hall Club (Yeamans) (insured by Accident Fund Ins. Co. of America) was the Statutory Employer of the Claimant. The UEF moved to add Yeamans to the claim on the basis that the work performed by the Claimant was part of the trade, business or occupation of Yeamans as contemplated by Section 42-1-400. (Motion to Add). The Commission added Yeamans and its carrier based upon the

contention of the UEF, which was supported by the deposition testimony of Alan David Halle (Halle), who was the maintenance manager of Yeamans. (Order Adding Parties). At the merits hearing before the Single Commissioner the UEF submitted the depositions of Halle and Jason Lambert (the controller of Yeamans), among other evidence, in support of its statutory employment contention. In the event Yeamans was determined to be the statutory employer, the UEF would not be liable for payment of this claim.

That part of the Decision and Order of the Full Commission addressing the statutory employment issue is exceptionally brief. In approximately one-half page of text, consisting of two findings (only one of which was substantive), the issue of statutory employment was raised, analyzed, and concluded. (Decision and Order at pages 30-31, findings/conclusions No. 54 and No. 55). In other words, the issue of statutory employment was treated in a summary manner. Summary treatment of such issues by the Full Commission is disfavored. Pugh v. Piedmont Mechanical, 396 S.C. 31, 719 S.E.2d 676 (Ct. App. 2011). In light of this, the evidence and the statutory and case law should be reconsidered and reevaluated by this Court and a finding made that Yeamans was the statutory of the Claimant.

Section 42-1-400 imputes workers' compensation liability to owners who use "any other person" to "perform or execute any work which is part of [the owner's] trade, business or occupation." The courts of our state have applied the following analysis to resolve issues of statutory employment:

"To determine whether the work performed by a subcontractor is a part of the owner's business, this Court must consider whether (1) the activity of the subcontractor is an important part of the owner's trade or business; (2) the activity performed by the subcontractor is a necessary, essential and integral part of the owner's business; or (3) the identical activity performed by the subcontractor has been performed by the employees of the owner. If any one

of these tests is satisfied, the injured worker is considered the statutory employee of the owner. Any doubts as to a worker's status are to be resolved in favor of coverage under the Act."

Voss v. Ramco, Inc., 325 S.C. 560, 482 S.E.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1996) (traveling salesman of distributor who took small industrial equipment on consignment found to be statutory employee of the manufacturer of that equipment). Issues of statutory employment can arise out of any number of contexts and scenarios.

In the case at bar the question of statutory employment arises out of the following factual scenario, from which the UEF contends the work being done by the Claimant at the time of his injury was part of the business of Yeamans:

--Yeamans contacted, hired and arranged for Hannaway to come to the Strawbridge house and perform the pressure washing that the claimant was doing when he was injured on 8/29/18 (Halle deposition at page 19).

--Hannaway invoiced Yeamans for the job on which the claimant was injured by way of an emailed invoice from Hannaway to Al Halle in the total amount of \$1,070 for that day's work, which invoice included the following entry: "Strawbridge house-dormer on garage-pressure cleaned, primed new wood, and applied one full coat of Ben Moore Soft Gloss. White -\$480. Paint new door on garage - \$65.00" (Halle deposition, Exhibit 2 at page 23 of that exhibit).

--the job duties of the maintenance manager at Yeamans, who was Al Halle, was "to care for the homes in the club properties" which included "painting, pressure washing, cleaning gutters" (Halle at page 7).

--property owners at the golf course are entitled to certain benefits as "proprietor" members for which they pay a greater than \$10,000 annual fee (Lambert deposition at page 19).

--one of those benefits is the use of Yeamans to coordinate and arrange contractor services for a member's residence (Lambert at page 20).

--Yeamans would pay the contractor for the work performed and then bill the member for the cost (Lambert at page 7) (Halle at page 9).

--this was an "amenity" that was provided by Yeamans to members (Lambert at page 27).

--Yeamans had three of its own employees that performed such tasks in addition to private contracts like Hannaway (Lambert at page 25).

--both Yeamans employees and private contractors pressure wash the private homes of members (Halle at page 10).

--in 2018 Hannaway did extensive work at Yeamans to include work on the cottages, the golf cart barn, the business center, the maintenance shop, the club house, the dining room, Hole 19 and the scoreboard (Lambert at pages 23-26).

--Al Halle was the conduit at Yeamans that would arrange this type of work for private proprietor members. Lambert stated that this service for proprietor members was “important to the members.” (Lambert at pages 28-29).

All this shows that Yeamans provided various services to the proprietor members to assist with the maintenance and upkeep for their homes at the club. A substantial yearly fee (at least \$10,000) for this was paid by each proprietor member to Yeamans. The practice of Yeamans was to arrange for private contractors to perform such tasks at the homes of members and Yeamans would pay the contractors directly for that. Yeamans had its own employees that also performed those home maintenance tasks. That service was described by Yeamans’ own controller as “important” to the members.

The Claimant was injured while performing such a task at the home of a member and this was arranged by Yeamans on the member’s behalf and the work done was paid for by Yeamans. All of this shows that the work being done by the Claimant when he was injured was part of the trade, business or occupation of Yeamans as contemplated by Section 42-1-400. The Appellate Panel should find and order accordingly. See Fortner v. Evans Constr., 402 S.C. 421, 741 S.E.2d 538 (Ct. App. 2013) (using the Voss analysis and finding statutory employment of claimant, who worked for a subcontractor, injured

while pressure washing a residence when that service was being done as a gesture of “goodwill” towards a customer by the Statutory Employer).

Yeamans defense up this point has been to focus only upon the golf/recreational activities it provides. That is incomplete and misleading. Yeamans has further limited its analysis to pressure-washing, rather than the general maintenance services provided by the Claimant’s direct employer. The uncontradicted evidence is that Yeamans undertook (as part of the amenities offered to members for which a substantial fee was paid) to arrange for the work done by the Claimant’s direct employer, receive the invoices from the Claimant’s direct employer, pay the invoices of the Claimant’s direct employer, and then bill the homeowners for the general residential maintenance services provided by the Claimant’s direct employer.

The evidence submitted by the UEF shows that during the period from 1/23/18 to 11/13/18, which is less than ten months, Yeamans arranged for the Claimant’s direct employer to work on at least 33 private residences at the club. (UEF APA at pages 20-50, which are emailed invoices to Yeamans from the Claimant’s direct employer). This work included repairs, painting (including prep, sanding and priming), cleaning gutters, blowing off roofs, pressure washing, removing/cleaning mold, lattice work and the boarding up of private residences to prevent storm damage. (Id.). 27 of those 33 residences were worked on multiple times by the Claimant’s direct employer and 24 of them were worked on 3 or more times by the Claimant’s direct employer. (Id.). Significantly, the Claimant’s direct employer performed general maintenance services on at least 5 separate occasions at the Strawbridge residence, which is the specific residence at which the Claimant was injured. (Id.). The work performed by the Claimant’s direct

employer at the Strawbridge residence included cleaning gutters, blowing off the roof, pressure washing, and the painting of both the interior and exterior. (Id.). The UEF contends that the general maintenance work done by the Claimant's direct employer on the private residences at Yeamans was extensive as regards the variety of the types of maintenance provided, the number of residences at which that maintenance was provided, and the number of residences that required multiple visits. Simply put, it fits within the purview of Section 42-1-400, and that makes the Claimant a statutory employee.

The recent decision of our Supreme Court in Keene v. CNA Holdings, LLC, (Op. No. 28052, filed 8/11/21), further supports the position of the UEF. Although that case dealt with the use of statutory employment as a bar to liability in a civil tort action, the Supreme Court made clear that its decision applies with equal force to the issue of statutory employment in both the tort and workers' compensation contexts. The Court noted "purpose of this legislation was to protect employees of irresponsible and uninsured subcontractors." (At page 53 and quoting from Larson's Workers' Compensation Law). That is the exact scenario before this Court, assuming that the coverage decision of the Full Commission as to Travelers is not reversed. In analyzing the history and development of prior decisions regarding statutory employment the Court held that "the applicable public policy, however, is to ensure that workers are covered under the Workers' Compensation Law." Id. at page 60. It specifically noted that the policy was to provide recourse to an injured worker when work was subcontracted out "to a financially irresponsible subcontractor without the capacity to insure its workers." Id. The Court held "the original purposes of the statutory employee doctrine are not served by making CNA Holdings an additional provider of workers' compensation benefits,

because Daniel provided those benefits.” *Id.* at page 62. That recent case is first and foremost a reiteration of the foundational premise that statutory employment was designed to provide an injured worker with access to insurance benefits when the direct employer to whom work was subcontracted out did not have such coverage.

The Full Commission held that Yeamans was not the Statutory Employer of the Claimant. It is undisputed that Yeamans has workers’ compensation and that the Commission determined that the Claimant’s direct employer did not. In light of that specific posture (no coverage with direct employer), and the overwhelming evidence of ongoing, continuous and substantial work being done by the Claimant’s direct employer in further of the business and operations of Yeamans, it was error for the Full Commission to find that the Claimant was not the Statutory Employee of Yeamans. This Court should reverse as to that jurisdictional issue.

2. The UEF was not precluded from raising and litigating the coverage issue with Travelers.

A. The issue of Travelers’ coverage had already been joined and was in litigation when the show cause order was issued.

The Commission held that the UEF was bound by a 7/25/19 order finding that the direct employer (Hannaway) was subject to the Act and uninsured. (Decision and Order at pages 17-18, findings/conclusions No. 3-6). These types of coverage orders are sometimes referred to as “show cause” orders by the Commission. In the case at bar the Commission held that this show cause order precluded the UEF from asserting that Travelers improperly cancelled its coverage. This decision was faulty both as applied to the specific, unique facts of this claim and also when (perhaps most importantly), viewed in the context of Title 42 and use of collateral estoppel/claim preclusion against the UEF

generally. The UEF urges this Court to be cognizant that this particular issue/ruling will impact the UEF and the Commission beyond the context of this particular case as the UEF and Commission deal with literally hundreds of claims involving allegedly uninsured employers ever year. The decision of this Court will likely have ramifications upon most, if not all, cases involving uninsured employers and impact the Commission's procedure to handling such claims and, specifically, the determination of whether or not the UEF can contest coverage for claims to which it is made a party.

The procedural history of this claim reveals the nature of the Commission's error on this issue. The UEF was not a party to that "show cause" proceeding nor is there any indication that the UEF was notified of the "show cause" proceeding at any point, but specifically as to the hearing that led to the 7/25/19 order. That alone should be sufficient reason to reverse her decision. The relevant timing is:

1/11/19 -- Order adding the UEF to the claim and providing that the UEF shall "pay or defend the claim as it considers necessary." (Order).

6/28/19 – UEF files motion to add Travelers based upon improper cancellation resulting from audit of prior policy term. (Motion to add).

7/8/19 – Commission's order adding Travelers as a party to this claim. (Order).

7/25/19 – Commission's "show cause" order finding Hannaway was subject to the Act and operating without coverage in place. (Show Cause Order).

Application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel presupposes that the party against whom it is applied had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue to which the doctrine applies. SCPCIGA v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 304 S.C. 210, 403 S.E.2d 625 (1991) (collateral estoppel cannot be applied against a party that lacked a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the first action); see also Crosby v. Prysmian Comm. Cables, 397 S.C. 101, 723 S.E.2d 813 (Ct. App. 2012) (only proper to apply the doctrine

when the party against whom it is applied had the ability to present witnesses, make factual and legal arguments and appeal rulings).

In the case at bar the UEF was not a party to the show cause proceeding before the Commission and it does not appear that the UEF was even notified of those proceedings. None of that is unusual as regards coverage enforcement proceedings against employers and it is common for such employers to be unrepresented and/or simply not participate. The 7/25/19 show cause order does not refer to the UEF, nor is there any indication from that order that the issue of Travelers' improper cancellation of coverage was raised or considered at all (let alone actually and meaningfully litigated). Under these particular facts, it is unfair and improper to hold the UEF bound by the show cause order and precluded from litigating the coverage issue as part of the merits hearing before the Single Commissioner.

The procedural history of this matter supports a reversal of the Full Commission. On 6/28/19 the UEF filed a motion to add Travelers to this claim on the specific basis that the carrier improperly cancelled coverage. On 7/8/19 the Commission issued its order adding Travelers as a party as requested by the UEF. Travelers did not appeal that order and, in fact, Travelers did not contest the motion to add in any manner. The show cause order upon which Travelers relies was not issued until 7/25/19. It was plain error for the Full Commission to hold that the UEF was precluded from contesting Travelers' coverage as a result of a show cause order to which the UEF was not a party and which was not issued until **AFTER** the UEF had already added Travelers as a defendant and put the coverage matter into issue. The answer (Form 51) of Travelers contains a mere general denial in which the existence of the coverage issue was acknowledged, and

coverage denied, without any defense or reference to the show cause order and without contesting the motion to add. Standing alone from the other arguments made by the UEF, this Court should simply reverse that part of the order in light of the procedural history and timing of the orders in this particular matter.

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