THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

JAN 26 2022

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION **SC Court of Appeals**

South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Claim No. 1819776

Appellate Case No. 2021-000695

South Carolina Uninsured Employers Fund, Carrier.....Appellant

v.

Jeff Quinn, Employee, Yeamans Hall Club, Employer, Accident Fund Insurance Company of America, Carrier, Travelers Property & Casualty Company of America, Carrier, and Michael Hannaway d/b/a Hannaway Painting, Employer,

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

### **ARGUMENTS**

- A. The Full Commission erred in finding that UEF was precluded from raising and litigating the issue of whether Travelers wrongfully cancelled coverage for Hannaway on the date of Claimant's work accident, and whether in fact, Travelers did properly cancel coverage.<sup>2</sup>**

---

<sup>2</sup> The issue of whether the UEF was precluded from raising and litigating the issue of Travelers' wrongfully cancelled coverage is an issue separate and apart from any arguments involving Yeamans Hall. To that end, Yeamans Hall purports that the UEF's arguments have merit, and the UEF has properly raised these arguments to this Court for adjudication. Accordingly, Yeamans Hall contends that this Court should consider this issue prior to consideration of the statutory employment argument raised by the UEF in its brief.

In its brief, the UEF makes extensive arguments regarding whether the Full Commission erred in finding that it was precluded from raising and litigating the issue of whether Travelers wrongfully cancelled coverage because it was bound by a July 25, 2019, “Show Cause” Order issued by the Workers’ Compensation Commission finding that Hannaway was subject to the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Law (hereinafter “the Act”) and uninsured. The UEF argues the Commission’s decision on this issue was faulty both as applied to the specific facts of this case and also when viewed in the context of Title 42 and the use of collateral estoppel/claim preclusion against the UEF generally. In support of its argument, the UEF asserts it was not a party to the “show cause” proceeding, nor was it notified of the “show cause” proceeding at any point. As a result, the UEF argued this Court should reverse the part of the Full Commission’s order precluding the UEF from raising and litigating the issue of whether Travelers wrongfully cancelled coverage on light of the procedural history and timing of the pertinent orders in this matter. The UEF goes on to argue there is no statutory or regulatory basis upon which to preclude the UEF from litigating the issue of Travelers’ coverage.

Further, the UEF argues Travelers wrongfully cancelled coverage for Hannaway based on this Court’s 2010 decision in *Crews v. W.R. Crews*,<sup>3</sup> wherein this Court held that current year coverage under an assigned risk policy cannot be validly cancelled based upon a default in an obligation owed under the prior year’s policy unless the assigned risk plan specifically provided for that particular remedy with precise language. The UEF goes on to argue that in the instant case, neither the policy issued by Travelers nor the provisions of the assigned risk plan, provide for a cancellation on that basis.

---

<sup>3</sup> 390 S.C. 15, 699 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2010)

To this end, if this Court finds the UEF's arguments persuasive on the issue, then there is no need to address the issue of whether Yeamans Hall was the statutory employer of Claimant on the date of his work accident as the issue is dispositive. (*see Earthscapes Unlimited, Inc. v. Ulbrich*, 390 S.C. 609, 617, 703 S.E.2d 221, 225 (2010) ("An appellate court need not address remaining issues when disposition of a prior issue is dispositive.")). At this time, Yeamans Hall defers to the arguments on these issues raised by the UEF in its brief; however, Yeamans Hall reserves the right to address any arguments raised by Travelers in its reply brief. (*see* Footnote 2, *supra*.)

**B. Yeamans Hall Club Was Not Claimant's Statutory Employer on the date of Claimant's work accident.**

In South Carolina, the basic test for determining whether an employee who bears no contractual relationship to an owner is considered the owner's "statutory employee" through employment by another person is:

[W]hether or not [the work] being done is part of the general trade, business[,] or occupation of the owner...[t]he employee is to be excluded or included as a 'statutory employee' depending upon whether or not the person is performing or executing a part of the owner's general business.

*Revels v. Hoescht Celanese, Corp.*, 301 S.C. 316, 318, 391 S.E.2d 731, 732 (Ct. App. 1990) (*citing Hopkins v. Darlington Veneer Co.*, 208 S.C. 207, 311, 38 S.E.2d 6, 6 (1946)).

The Act collectively refers to §§ 42-1-400 – 42-1-410 as the "statutory employee doctrine."

In pertinent part, the § 42-1-400 provides:

When any person, in this section and Sections 42-1-420 and 42-1-430 referred to as "owners," undertakes to perform or execute any work which is a part of his trade, business, or occupation and contracts with any other person (in this section and Sections 42-1-420 to 42-1-430 referred to as "subcontractor") for the execution or performance by or under such subcontractor of the whole or any part of the work undertaken by such owner, the owner shall be liable to pay to any workman employed in the work any compensation under this title which he would have been liable to pay if the workman had been immediately employed by him.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-400 (2015)

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-400, a court must make two determinations in assessing whether owner's workers' compensation liability will attach. First, the owner must qualify as a business under the Act. Second, the employee's work must have constituted part of the owner's "trade, business, or occupation." *Harrell v. Pineland Plantation, Ltd.*, 337 S.C. 313, 321, 523, S.E.2d 766, 770 (1999).

To this end, South Carolina courts have applied a three-part test to determine if an employee's activities are part of the owner's trade, business, or occupation under § 42-1-400. In *Glass v. Dow Chemical*, the Supreme Court stated that "this statutory requirement has been construed to include activities that: (1) are an important part of the trade or business of the employer; (2) are a necessary, essential, and integral part of the business of the employer; or (3) have been *previously* performed by employees of the employer." 325 S.C. 198, 201, 482 S.E.2d 49, 50 (1997) (*emphasis added*).

In *Keene*,<sup>4</sup> the recent South Carolina Supreme Court decision involving the statutory employer doctrine, the Court acknowledged that the resulting body of jurisprudence stemming from the application of the statutory employee doctrine is "confusing, conflicting, and always difficult for the workers' compensation commission and the circuit courts to apply." *Keene* at 51. The Court went on to state this difficulty has become particularly apparent in the modern economy wherein subcontracting work a company could do with its own employees is such an important and legitimate business practice. *Id.* In *Keene*, the Court stated, "[t]oday, following our more recent decisions on the statutory employee doctrine, we apply the doctrine in light of the General

---

<sup>4</sup> *Keene v. CNA Holdings*, Op. No. 28052 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed August 11, 2021) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 27 at 50).

Assembly's original purpose for enacting it: 'to prevent owners and contractors from subcontracting out their work to avoid liabilities for injuries incurred in the course of employment.'" *Id.*

In *Keene*, the Court proceeded to provide a historical analysis of the case law interpreting the statutory employee doctrine from the time of its original enactment and stated that in the early years of interpreting the predecessor statutes to Sections 42-1-400 and 42-1-410, the Court viewed the scope of an employer's "trade, business, or occupation" quite broadly, and for decades, the Court continued to interpret the phrase "trade, business, or occupation" liberally to include any work they deemed necessary to the owner's business. *Keene* at 54. The Court cited *Bell v. South Carolina Elec. Gas Co.*, 234 S.C. 577, 109 S.E.2d 441 (1959), as an application of their broad interpretation to maintenance and repair workers. *Keene* at 55. The Court went on to state that shortly after *Bell*, even as they viewed the scope of a company's "trade, business, or occupation" broadly in most of their cases, they began a series of cases in which they narrowed their original view. *Keene* at 56. The Court cited *Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co.*, 243 S.C. 1, 132 S.E.2d 18 (1963), *overruled on other grounds by Sabb v. South Carolina State Univ.*, 350 S.C. 416, 422–423 n.2, 567 S.E.2d 231, 234 n.2 (2002), wherein they stated, "[i]t is especially difficult to lay down any hard and fast rule with regard to such activities as repair and maintenance," because "[t]he practices of different concerns operating in the same field often vary." 243 S.C. at 11, 132 S.E.2d at 23. The Court explained this point was significant because different business managers make legitimate choices about the scope of their company's business based on the circumstances the manager deems important to the company. *Keene* at 56.

Furthermore, in *Keene*, the Court noted that while each of the three tests referenced above remain a valid consideration, the appropriate focus of the legal doctrine is on the key question

posed by the statute. *Keene* at 61. The Court stated that in answering the question posed by section 42-1-400 of whether the work contracted out is “part of the [the owner’s] trade, business or occupation,” the Court should focus initially on what the owner decided is part of his or her business. *Id.* The Court acknowledged that increasingly, business managers are outsourcing work that formerly was handled as part of a business, and they are doing so to meet the ever-increasing competitive challenges businesses face. *Id.* To that end, the Court concluded:

In reality, therefore, what is or is not “part of” the owner’s business is a question of business judgment, not law. If a business manager reasonably believes her workforce is not equipped to handle a certain job, or the financial or other business interests of her company are served by outsourcing the work, and the decision to do so is not driven by a desire to avoid the cost of insuring workers, then the business manager has legitimately defined the scope of her company’s business to not include that particular work.

*Keene* at 61.

In this case, the facts clearly establish that the work Claimant performed on the date of his accident as an employee of Hannaway was not part of Yeamans Hall’s trade or business as set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-400 or as contemplated by the Court in *Glass, Bridges*, or *Keene*.

Yeamans Hall takes issue with UEF’s baseless claim that the Full Commission treated the issue of whether Yeamans Hall was the statutory employer in this case in a summary manner on the grounds that this contention is without merit and wholly unsupported by the evidence in the record. The UEF makes this argument based on the sole grounds that the Full Commission’s decision and order addressing the statutory employment issue was brief and only contained two findings.<sup>5</sup> The UEF seems to ignore that in coming to this conclusion, the Single Commissioner

---

<sup>5</sup> The UEF cites no cases or statutory authority regarding any requirements for length of discussion required in Orders. Yeamans Hall contends that all that is required is a Finding of Fact or Conclusion of law supported by the evidence in the record.

heard testimony from multiple witnesses, including the maintenance manager of Yeamans Hall, and reviewed the deposition testimony of both the controller and the maintenance manager at Yeamans Hall, which were submitted by the UEF. Although the other issues involved in this appeal consumed a larger portion of the Decision and Order, the question of whether Yeamans Hall was the statutory employer was addressed in specific terms, citing the appropriate statute and case law, and referencing pertinent witness testimony in support of their conclusion. To say that either the Single Commissioner or the Full Commission treated this issue in a summary manner is purely speculative and lacks merit.

**i. The work performed by Claimant on the date of accident was not an important part of the trade or business of Yeamans Hall.**

Yeamans Hall is a private golf club that provides recreational services by furnishing, maintaining, and coordinating its attendant golf course. Yeamans Hall is tasked with managing the day-to-day affairs of the business, ranging from scheduling tee times, rearranging tee boxes, maintaining fairways and greens, and selling various products out of its pro shop, among other tasks related to their on-site hotel and restaurants. At his deposition, Jason Lambert, the controller for Yeamans Hall,<sup>6</sup> described the “purpose or trade” of Yeamans Hall as, “[h]ospitality. So we have a golf course, hotels, restaurants, so it’s just hospitality for private members.” (R. p. 335, lines 11–18). In addition to the activities described above, Yeamans Hall has members with private homes within the club. At his deposition, Mr. Lambert explained that there are three levels of membership for Yeamans Hall members, which include resident, non-resident, and proprietor. (R. p. 345, lines 8–22). Mr. Lambert went on to explain that proprietor membership refers to the classification of members that actually live on the property. (R. p. 346, lines 2–3).

---

<sup>6</sup> At his deposition, Jason Lambert described his job duties as a controller as “financial management of the company.” (R. p. 334, lines 10–11).

As part of the proprietor level of membership at Yeamans Hall, proprietor members pay an additional fee to Yeamans Hall as an amenity that allows members in that classification to contact the club to arrange for services to be performed on their homes. (R. p. 349, lines 1–6). These additional services include work such as having their houses painted, pressure washed, and other general maintenance performed. Proprietor members have the option of using the club to arrange with companies, like Hannaway, to perform these services, or to contact companies directly to have the work performed for them. (R. p. 142, lines 3–7). If a member does choose to have Yeamans Hall coordinate with a company engaged in these specific trades to perform the requested services, and upon completion of the work, Yeamans Hall would pay the company for the work performed and then bill the member for the cost of the services. (R. p.338, lines 1–24; R. p. 141, lines 16–21).

Yeamans Hall does not provide any direction or control over how the work is performed and does not have any control over the hiring and firing of the workers the contractors choose to employ. (R. p. 141, lines 12–15; R. p. 142, lines 10–13). Yeamans Hall simply takes the request from its members, coordinates with a company engaged in that specific trade, and then directs the company to the location where the work is to be performed. (R. p. 141, lines 12–15).

Although Yeamans Hall does employ some maintenance workers of its own, Mr. Lambert testified that in 2018, Yeamans Hall employed three maintenance employees to perform “normal maintenance activities.” (R. p. 354, lines 1–10). In order for Yeamans Hall to carry out the tasks required to operate a functioning golf course, hotel, and restaurants successfully, it is necessary to keep several maintenance employees on staff; however, as the Court stated in *Keene*, “in *Glass*, we recognized that not all work ‘necessary’ for an owner to ‘carry on its business’—the standard we used in *Marchbanks* and *Bozeman*—was ‘part of his...business’ under section 42-1-400.”

*Keene* at 57 (referencing *Marchbanks v. Duke Power Co.*, 190 S.C. 336, 2 S.E.2d 825 (1939) and *Boseman v. Pacific Mills*, 193 S.C. 479, 8 S.E.2d 878 (1940)). The Court went on to state, “[w]e specifically recognized that ‘where repairs are major, specialized, or of the sort which the employer is not equipped to handle with its own work force, they are not part of the business.’” *Keene* at 57 (citing *Glass*, 325 S.C. at 202, 482 S.E.2d at 51).

The situation described by the Court in *Keene* above is directly on point in this case. Although Yeamans Hall coordinated for work to be done on the private residences at the request of its proprietor members, at the time of Claimant’s accident, Yeamans Hall did not perform the work as part of its business, nor was it equipped to handle such work with its own maintenance crew. Yeamans Hall simply acted as a conduit to coordinate the requested services to be performed by outside companies that engaged in this line of work on behalf of its members.

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